FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 12/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK 'M Supreme Court No. 102622-6 (COA No. 84469-5-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARY MERCEDES,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

### B. **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

In a divided opinion, two Court of Appeals judges ruled that a homeowner is only entitled to receive *Ferrier*<sup>1</sup> warnings informing them of their right to refuse consent for their dwelling, not for a warrantless search of fenced property surrounding the dwelling. The Court of Appeals majority reversed the trial court's ruling that the State improperly invaded Ms. Mercedes's private affairs by entering her fenced pastures without informing her of her right to refuse consent or limit the search.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 960 P.2d 927 (1998).

One judge dissented, agreeing with the trial court that article I, section 7's protections for a person's home equally apply to the invasion of private affairs during a warrantless search of a gated, fenced area surrounding a home. As the divided Court of Appeals opinion shows, this Court should grant review to determine this significant constitutional question.

# C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mary Mercedes's home sits on 2.89 acres of rural property. RP 54. Visitors must drive down a long, gated driveway to reach it. RP 11. There is one gate at the top of the driveway near the road and another gate near the house. RP 72. From the driveway, a visitor is unable to see the entire property. RP 55.

Adjacent to Ms. Mercedes' home is a large, fenced area that houses two horses, Buttons and Moira. RP 15. Both horses are elderly and needed special food due to their age, as Buttons was in her 20s and Moira in her 30s.<sup>2</sup> RP 67.

From January 4, 2018 through February 23, 2018, two uniformed, armed law enforcement officers serving as animal control officers separately went to Ms. Mercedes' home multiple times. CP 22-29. On several occasions, an officer went through the fenced area and physically manipulated the horses. CP 23-29; RP 59, 62, 65, 75, 89. Officer Rench described these visits as conducted through "a knock-and-talk procedure." RP 8, 25. She did not obtain a warrant and went to property for the purpose of investigating the horses' physical condition based on information they received, to ascertain whether a crime was being committed. *Id*.

The trial court ruled the officers did not have lawful authority to cross into the fenced area to closely examine and

<sup>2</sup> "Horses have an average lifespan of 20-30 years, with a maximum lifespan over 40 years." <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7286991/;</u> *see* RP 67. touch the horses. CP 29-31. Because the police did not provide *Ferrier* warnings to Ms. Mercedes at any point, the trial court suppressed information gathered during unlawful portions of the Officer's searches during each visit and excised them from the search warrant affidavit. CP 33-35.

It explained that "[o]wners of fenced-in enclosures such as this have a privacy expectation in the areas they choose to fence," and concluded "substantial evidence supports a finding that *Ferrier* warnings were required," in these situations. CP 29.

After excising improperly gathered and incorrect information from the subsequently obtained search warrant, the trial court concluded there was not probable cause supporting the search. CP 32. Without the information gathered from searching the property, the prosecution acknowledged it lacked sufficient evidence to proceed with the case and the court dismissed the charge of first degree animal cruelty. RP 144-45. The State appealed the court's ruling and a two-judge majority of the Court of Appeals reversed, with Judge Feldman dissenting in part. Slip op. at 15 (majority opinion); Slip op at 5 (J. Feldman, dissenting in part). The facts are further explained in Ms. Mercedes' Response Brief, pages 3-14, and the relevant argument sections, and are incorporated herein.

### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Under Article I, section 7, the State must inform a homeowner of their right to refuse consent before searching their home and invading their private enclosed property, as the dissenting Court of Appeals judge explained.

1. Article I, section 7 requires express warnings about a person's privacy rights before a warrantless search of a home.

Article I, section 7 provides "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art I, § 7. This constitutional provision "clearly recognizes an individual's right to privacy with *no* express limitations." *Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d at 110 (quoting *State*  v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 180, 867 P.2d 593 (1994), emphasis added in *Ferrier*).

A warrantless search is "unreasonable per se," unless an exception applies. *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 70-71, 917 P.2d 562 (1996). Exceptions to the warrant requirement, such as consent, "are carefully drawn and jealously guarded." *State v. Ruem*, 179 Wn.2d 195, 200, 313 P.3d 1156 (2013).

The State bears the heavy burden of proving an exception to the warrant requirement, which is heightened further when governmental agents conduct a warrantless search of someone's house or its direct surroundings. *See Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d at 111.

Article I, section 7 is "more protective of the home than is the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Groom,* 133 Wn.2d 679, 685, 947 P.2d 240 (1997). This staunch protection renders the area immediately surrounding a house, such as fenced property, "under the home's 'umbrella." *State v. Ridgway,* 57 Wn. App. 915, 918, 790 P.2d 1263 (1990) (internal quotations omitted). Given the heightened protection the home and its direct surroundings receive, when law enforcement has "ample opportunity to obtain a warrant, [courts] do not look kindly on their failure to do so." *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn.2d 735, 744, 782 P.2d 1035 (1989) (internal quotations omitted). This is particularly true when a governmental agent attempts to circumvent the warrant requirement through an "inherently coercive" knock and talk procedure. *Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d at 118-19.

"During a knock and talk, officers go to a home without a warrant and ask for the resident's consent to search the premises." *State v. Budd*, 185 Wn.2d 566, 573, 374 P.3d 137 (2016) (citing *State v. Khounvichai*, 149 Wn.2d 557, 562, 69 P.3d 862 (2003)). The Supreme Court has made clear: "when officers conduct a knock and talk . . . they must, prior to entering the home," inform home dwellers of their rights to refuse consent, revoke any consent they give, and limit the scope of the consent. *Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d at 118-19.

Here, the trial court ruled animal control officers intruded into Ms. Mercedes' home without a warrant, for the purpose of searching her property to obtain evidence, and without valid consent. But the two-judge Court of Appeals majority ruled that, "No published decisions expend the application of *Ferrier* to a home's curtilage." Slip op. at 12. It refused to read *Ferrier* as applying to a private fenced area immediately outside Ms. Mercedes' dwelling. Slip op. at 12-14.

2. The same privacy protections afforded a person's home apply to the area immediately surrounding the home.

As Judge Feldman wrote, "[t]he constitutional underpinnings of the Supreme Court's opinion in *Ferrier* clearly extend outside the home." Slip op. at 1 (J. Feldman, concurring and dissenting in part). The plain language of article I, section 7 applies to a person's "private affairs, or his home." *Id*. This disjunctive use of "or" signifies the constitutional provision is not limited to a person's dwelling. *Id*. In *State v. Witherrite*, 184 Wn. App. 859, 865, 339 P.3d 992 (2014), Judge Lawrence-Berry similarly wrote in a concurring opinion, "I see no basis to limit *Ferrier* to home searches when the constitutional basis for *Ferrier* clearly applies beyond the home."

The curtilage of a dwelling is "part of [the] home itself." *Oliver v. United States,* 466 U.S. 170, 180, 104 S. Ct. 1735, 80 L. Ed. 2d 214 (1984); *State v. Ross,* 141 Wn.2d 304, 312, 4 P.3d 130 (2000). The curtilage includes land adjacent to or near the dwelling in which there is a reasonable expectation of privacy. *See Oliver,* 466 U.S. at 178.

A property owner commonly preserves their privacy in a rural area "by way of fences and signs." *State v. Thorson*, 98 Wn. App. 528, 533, 990 P.3d 446 (1999). "[D]evices" such as fences or gates in a rural area delineate for the government areas on which they may not intrude without authority of law. *Id.* In *Thorson*, the Court of Appeals ruled that a person who lived in a rural area has a privacy interest in their land, including unfenced rural property. *Id.* at 540. It ruled the police lacked authority to enter this property and use their observations against the property owner without a warrant. *Id.* 

Similarly, in *State v. Johnson*, 75 Wn. App. 692, 708, 879 P.2d 984 (1994), the Court of Appeals ruled a warrantless intrusion into a resident's open field was "not acceptable under our state constitution."

Here, law enforcement officers intruded into Ms. Mercedes' private affairs. She gated her private property and lived down a long driveway in a rural area. Her horses remained within this "closed and fenced off area of the property" at all times, as the trial court found. CP 5. She began locking the upper gate to her property after the first few intrusions by the police. CP 8, 12-13.

Animal control law enforcement officers entered her fenced property to examine her horses without informing her she may refuse consent to search, revoke consent, or confine the scope of her consent, as required by *Ferrier*. *Ferrier*, 136

Wn.2d at 118. The failure to provide these warnings, prior to beginning the search, renders any consent given unlawful. *Id.* at 119.

3. <u>Ferrier</u> warnings are required before obtaining consent to conduct a warrantless search of a person's home and their private fenced property.

As this Court recognized, "when confronted with a surprise show of government force and authority, most residents believe they have no choice but to consent to the search." *Budd*, 185 Wn.2d at 575.

Officers conducted a criminal investigation into whether Ms. Mercedes was committing a criminal offense of animal cruelty. They entered her private, fenced, and gated property without a warrant and without explaining her right to refuse, limit, or revoke consent.

Article I, section 7 requires that *Ferrier* warnings be given when law enforcement officers intrude into a person's home or private affairs without a warrant or exception to the warrant requirement. 136 Wn.2d at 118; Slip op. at 2 (J.

Feldman, dissenting). There is no principled basis to limit *Ferrier* warnings to a search of a person's dwelling building, contrary to the two-judge Court of Appeals opinion. Slip op. at 2 (J. Feldman, dissenting). As the trial court correctly ruled in the case at bar, and as several Court of Appeals judges have siganlled, the constitutional basis of *Ferrier* extends to the private areas surrounding a person's home, which is intimately related to the privacy protections associate with a home. *See* Slip op. at 2 (J. Feldman, dissenting); *Witherrite*, 184 Wn. App. at 865 (J. Lawrence-Berry, concurring). This Court should grant review.

# E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Ms. Mercedes respectfully requests that review be

granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

Counsel certifies this document contains 1857 words and complies with RAP 18.17(b).

DATED this 6<sup>th</sup> day of December 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

e CM

NANCY P. COLLINS (28806) Washington Appellate Project (91052) Attorneys for Petitioner nancy@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org