FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/21/2024 11:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102622-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MARY MARGARET MERCEDES,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

AMANDA F. CAMPBELL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, petitioner in the Court of Appeals, respondent in this Court, asks that review be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set out in the Court of Appeals opinion. As a clarification, contrary to Mercedes's assertion that "the trial court ruled animal control officers intruded into Ms. Mercedes' home without a warrant," officers never entered Mercedes's home, only the surrounding property. Petition for Review at 8. Additionally, the record does not reflect that the pastures "immediately surrounded" Mercedes's home. Officers entered the pasture from the driveway of a 2.89-acre property.

In its opinion reversing the trial court's determination that <u>Ferrier</u> warnings are required before law enforcement

may conduct a warrantless search of a horse pasture, the Court of Appeals made several key holdings:

While warrantless searches are unlawful in general. consent is an exception to the warrant requirement. Slip Op. at *9. The requirement for additional warnings to obtain consent comes from State v. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 960 P.2d 927 (1998). These warnings are only required in searches of homes that entail a "knock and talk" procedure according to Washington Supreme Court precedent and published cases from Divisions One and Three of the Court of Appeals. Slip Op. at *10-11. In the sole Division Two case related to this issue, the court's unpublished decision rested on the key fact that the searched area was the curtilage of the home. Slip Op. at *12–13. In this case, the trial court did not hold the horse pasture was within the home's curtilage and the court's holding did not rest on such a finding. Slip Op. at *13.

In light of these holdings, the court reversed the trial court's suppression ruling, holding the trial court erred in concluding the <u>Ferrier</u> rule applied to the defendant's consent to search her fenced pasture. Slip Op. at *15.

In an opinion concurring in part and dissenting in part, Judge Feldman wrote the "constitutional underpinnings" of the Court's ruling in <u>Ferrier</u> clearly extend outside the home. Concurrence/Dissent at *1. Judge Feldman reasoned the Washington Constitution provides the same protections to "private affairs" as to the home in this context. <u>Id.</u> at *2.

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE ISSUE OF WHETHER <u>FERRIER</u> WARNINGS MUST BE GIVEN WHEN OFFICERS SEARCH THE CURTILAGE OF A HOME IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT.

Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals held that the search in this case was of the curtilage of Mercedes's home. On the contrary, "several of the trial court's findings suggest the opposite." Slip Op. at *13.

Thus, the issue of whether <u>Ferrier</u> warnings must be given when officers search the curtilage of a home is not before the Court. Significant portions of the Petition for Review address this question, but the record in this case does not allow review of this issue.

B. MERCEDES HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED THIS MATTER INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION BECAUSE THE ISSUE OF WHETHER FERRIER WARNINGS APPLY OUTSIDE THE HOME HAS BEEN DECIDED.

In her petition, Mercedes's argument depends on the legal assumption that every part of her 2.89 acres of land deserved the same protections from searches as her home. No case supports this theory. On the contrary, this Court held.

Our decisions have consistently reflected the principle that the home receives heightened constitutional protection. Generally, a person's home is a highly private place. In no area is a citizen more entitled to his privacy than in his or her home. For this reason, the closer officers come to intrusion into a dwelling, the greater the constitutional protection.

<u>State v. Young</u>, 123 Wn.2d 173, 185, 867 P.2d 593 (1994).

The Court in <u>Ferrier</u> relied heavily on <u>Young</u> in its analysis, quoting it repeatedly for the proposition that the home receives greater constitutional protection than any other place. <u>Ferrier</u>, 136 Wn.2d at 118; fn 7 ("In <u>Young</u> we held that 'in examining our state constitution's explicit protection of the *home*, the fact the search occurs at a home is central to the analysis.' <u>Young</u>, 123 Wn.2d at 185 n. 2, 867 P.2d 593.").

Additionally, as the Court of Appeals held, several Supreme Court cases directly contradict the theory that Ferrier warnings are required outside of knock and talk procedures. See Slip Op. at *11:

State v. Khounvichai, 149 Wn.2d 557, 565-67, 69 P.3d 862 (2003) (Ferrier warnings are required only when police seek entry into a home to conduct a consensual search for contraband or evidence of a crime, not "merely to question or gain information from an occupant"); State v. Williams, 142 Wn.2d

17, 27-28, 19-20, 11 P.3d 714 (2000) (Ferrier warnings not required when police requested consent to enter a tenant's home to arrest the tenant's visitor, who had a valid arrest warrant); State v. Bustamante-Davila, 138 Wn.2d 964, 980-81, 983 P.2d 590 (1999) (Ferrier warnings not required when police and an immigration agent gained consensual entry into defendant's home to serve a presumptively valid deportation order).

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this case was supported by ample authority. There is no dispute that pastures are protected from warrantless searches. The issue here is whether pastures receive the heightened protections of a home. Precedent establishes they do not. Thus, there is no significant constitutional question before this Court.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be denied, as the Court of Appeals decision comports with established precedent and there is not a significant constitutional question before the Court.

This brief contains 913 words (exclusive of appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images).